Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC04-2274

JESUS DELGADO

Appellant,

-VS.-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCES OF DEATH BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ROY D. WASSON WASSON & ASSOCIATES, CHARTERED

> Pro Bono Counsel for Appellant Suite 450 Gables One Tower 1320 South Dixie Highway Miami, Florida 33146

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Introduction:

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction and two death sentences in a first degree murder case. R.II-357, 363. The Defendant, Jesus Delgado, was indicted on July 27, 1993 for two counts of first degree murder, armed burglary, and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. R.I-44. That indictment alleged that the Defendant shot and killed Tomas Rodriguez on August 31, 1990 and stabbed to death Violetta Rodriguez on that date. R.I-44.

The present appeal follows the second trial of the case. In the first trial the prosecution asserted alternative theories of preditated murder and felony murder. R.I-54. Mr. Delgado was found guilty on all counts in that first trial and was sentenced to death for each of the murders. R.I-53. The verdict did not reflect whether the jury found the Defendant guilty of premeditated murder or felony murder. On appeal, this Court reversed the convictions, holding that the State's "theory of burglary (and felony murder) is legally inadequate" because Mr.

Delgado's presence in the victims' home was consensual. RI-70. This Court's opinion reversing Mr. Delgado's convictions after the first trial is reported at *Delgado v. State*, 776 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2000)(hereinafter "*Delgado I*").

B. Pretrial Proceedings and Dispositions After Prior Reversal:

After preliminary proceedings following remand from this Court, the case was set for trial before visiting Circuit Judge Oliver Green. Before the start of the second trial, defense counsel filed a Motion to Bar Imposition of Death Sentence on grounds that Florida's Capital Sentencing Procedure is unconstitutional under *Ring v. Arizona*, 436 U.S. 584 (2002). R.I-161. That motion was denied. R.III-83.

That reassignment to a visiting judge was made following grant of the Defendant's Motion to Disqualify Trial Judge based upon the fact that a former police detective who was one of the State's material witnesses was Judge Israel Reyes, who had in the interval between the two trials taken office as a circuit court judge in Miami-Dade County. R.I-113, 116. Judge Reyes, whose status as a judge was not revealed to the jury, testified at trial; he is referred to in this brief as Detective Reyes.

Before jury selection began, the Defendant filed a *pro se* motion to dismiss based on "the grounds that the defendant is charged with offenses for which he has previously been placed in jeopardy, and judicially acquitted of those charges." R.II-207. Defense counsel adopted that motion. R.III-137. The motion was denied. *Id*.

C. The Prosecution's Theory of the Case and Evidence Thereon:

The State took the position at trial that Mr. Delgado killed the victims as revenge for them selling an unsuccessful laundry business to Horacio Llamelas, the father of Defendant's girlfriend Barbara, who allegedly purchased the cleaners for his daughter and Mr. Delgado to run. R.XIX-2183-86. There were no eyewitnesses to the crimes. No weapons involved in the murders were linked to the Defendant. No one saw the Defendant at the crime scene. There was no DNA evidence implicating Mr. Delgado.

The prosecution took the position that the following circumstantial evidence supported the inference that Tomas and Violetta Rodriquez were killed by someone well known to them, who they admitted into their home even though the visit was unexpected:

The Rodriguezes were very security conscious and unlikely to open their door for a stranger. R.XII-1396-98, 1411.

- ► There was no sign of a forced entry. R.XIII-1622-23.
- Violetta's keys were still in the lock inside the entry gate to the house the morning after the murders. R.XII-1413.
- There were no signs of a struggle in the rooms adjacent to the exterior doorway. R.XII-1429, 1435.
- Mr. and Mrs. Rodriguez were found dead wearing more casual attire than they usually wore when expecting company. R.XII-1405.

The State theorized that the following evidence supported the proposition that the Rodriquezes were not the aggressors who were killed in self-defense:

- A loaded .38 caliber revolver which had not recently been fired was found in a zippered pouch inside a drawer in the victims' bedroom.

 R.XIII-1480; RXV-1709-10.
- The .22 caliber Ruger pistol that killed Tomas Rodriquez may not have belonged to the victims because there was no unspent .22 ammunition found in the home, while there was some .38 ammunition for the other handgun found there. R,XIII-1483-84.
- That Ruger pistol that killed Tomas was equipped with a homemade silencer and its serial number had been drilled off. R.XIII-1479-80.

- The victims' hands were swabbed by police for gunpowder residue (R.XIII-1584-89) and those test results were negative.
- The victims' bodies were found beside a car parked in the garage, with Violetta's body wedged in between the car's bumper and the wall, possibly indicating that they were seeking refuge from attack there. R.XII-1446-48.
- A kitchen drawer which did not contain knives was found open in this otherwise-immaculate house (R.XIII-1498-99), possibly indicating that the bloody knife probably used to stab and cut the victims had been removed from a drawer by someone unfamiliar with the kitchen storage configuration.

Evidence offered to support the State's theory that the motive for the murders was revenge or something other than robbery included the following:

- A wallet, money and jewelry was located on the dresser in the victims' bedroom the day after the crimes. R.XIII-1476.
- Everything was neat throughout the house except for the kitchen and garage, with no signs of ransacking for valuables. R.XIII-1477.
- A lady's purse was on the dining table with its contents including case intact. R.XIII-1477.

There was no sign of a struggle inside the Volvo parked in the garage or an effort to steal the car such as might be consistent with the victims surprising a car thief. R.XIII-1518.

Circumstantial evidence relied upon by the State to support its position that Jesus Delgado had been inside the victims' home during the killings included the following:

- A bloody handprint matched to the Defendant was found on the telephone receiver in the kitchen. R.XIII-1544; R.XIV-1668.
- Police installed a device called a pen register to the telephone line used by the telephone with the bloody print on it (R.XIV-1668), and allegedly determined that the last number called from that telephone was a house where police determined the Llamelas family resided.
- A drop of blood found on the garage floor (R.XIII-1522-25) and another one on the kitchen floor close to the telephone (R.XIII-1527) were of the same blood type grouping as that of Mr. Delgado.
- Those two drops of blood displayed the circular characteristic of having been dripped straight down, at a 90 degree angle to the floor, unlike other blood identified as that of the victims which displayed

elongated "tails," indicating that it fell at a different angle. R.XIII-1525.

Those "90 degree drops" were near a trail of bloody shoeprints leading out of the garage into the kitchen. R.XIII-1425-30.

D. Evidence Creating Doubt About Mr. Delgado's Guilt:

The following are examples of evidence tending to weaken the State's evidence and creating doubt² about Mr. Delgado's role as the killer:

- The State presented no direct evidence that Mr. Delgado was at the victims' home on the night of the murders.
- The gun and knife which were the murder weapons were not linked to Mr. Delgado.
- There was no DNA evidence linking Mr. Delgado to the crimes.
- The blood "groupings" relied upon by the prosecution to support the inference that Mr. Delgado had been injured and bled at the victims' home were applicable to a large segment of the population.

² Although no issue is raised in this brief concerning insufficiency of the evidence, these few examples are offered to demonstrate the potential for the other trial errors asserted herein to have contributed to the verdict.

- The victims might have surprised a car thief because there was evidence of some sort of a struggle in the garage, including the garbage can being turned over, a broken ceramic pot, and the side mirror on the Volvo being folded-in toward the car. R.XIV-1616-18.
- Fingerprints taken from the outside of the Volvo in the victims' garage did not match those of Mr. Delgado or either of the Rodriguezes. R.XV-1816.
- The witness who identified for authentication purposes the paper tape (State's Ex. 68) used to record the telephone number which supposedly was called last from the victims' kitchen telephone, thenDetective Israel Reyes, was not trained in utilizing pen registers for such purposes. R.XIV-1669, 1674, 1688.

E. The Jury Instructions and Closing Arguments:

At the close of all the evidence the State *nolle prossed* the count charging the Defendant with the use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. R.XIX-2141. That left only the two first degree murder counts.³

³ The original indictment contained four counts, one of which was the burglary count found legally insuffient by this Court in *Delgado I*.

Before closing arguments began the trial court began to read the charge to the jury homicide. R.XIX- 2145-48. The State asked for a sidebar during the reading of the instructions and advised the judge that Rule 3.390 required him to wait until after closing arguments to charge the jury. R.XIX- 2148. Defense counsel also requested that the judge "instruct the jury at the end of counsel's arguments." R.XIX- 2149.

The parties and the court at that juncture also addressed whether the portion of the justifiable homicide charge dealing with resisting an attempt "to commit any felony in any dwelling house" would apply in this case, where the house in question was that of the victims. R.XIX- 2149-50. Defense counsel agreed that the court need not instruct the jury on that portion of the defense, and (in light of the fact that the jury already had heard that portion of the instruction) agreed with the court's pronouncement that he would "tell them not to consider that." R.XIX-2151. The judge reminded the jury of the part of the "instruction on justifiable" homicide having to do with occurrence in any dwelling," and advised them that "it has been agreed that based on the circumstances of this case, this instruction is not applicable." R.XIX-2152. Notwithstanding being informed of Rule 3.390(a), His Honor then continued where he had left off with the balance of the instruction on excusable homicide (R.XIX- 2152-53), and instructed the jury twice on the

elements of first degree murder: once for each of the victim counts in the indictment. R.XIX- 2153-55.

The prosecution presented closing argument. R.XIX- 2155. Before defense counsel commenced his closing, he stated that Mr. Delgado had authorized him to waive the reading of the justifiable homicide instruction. R.XIX- 2211. The Defendant did not waive reading of the charge on excusable homicide. R.XIX- 2240.

Defendant's summation included the argument that the evidence about the "blood grouping" results on the blood samples taken at the scene were scientifically insufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Delgado lost any blood in the Rodriguezes' home, much less that the bleeding occurred on the date of their deaths. R.XIX- 2232-33. Defense counsel questioned the idea that more accurate testing could not have been done in 1990, and argued "DNA in 2004, all they got to do is submit it to DNA. You would know positively?" R.XIX- 2233. The State objected to that argument without stating any grounds, and the trial court sustained the objection, stating "Sustained. Sustained. Not in evidence. The jury will disregard it." *Id.*

Before the State's rebuttal argument, the court and counsel again discussed the jury instructions. Although the court had already instructed the jury twice on

that (after arguments concluded): "I'm going to re-read the whole set." R.XIX-2241. Defense counsel again objected to re-reading the portions of the charge already given, reminding the judge. "You already read the first part of the instructions and the jury heard them. And [Assistant State Attorney] Ms. Dannelly argued them." *Id*.

The trial court seemed to agree with Defendant's position that he should not re-read the instructions previously given, stating in response to the objection: "All right. But what do I provide them?" *Id.* Defendant responded that the jury when it retired to deliberate should be provided with a complete set of the written instructions, but did not withdraw his objection to the court repeatedly reading the charges to the jury. *Id.* As addressed below, the court later read part of the instructions a third and fourth time.

During the State's rebuttal argument, the prosecutor commented on defense counsel's statements in closing to the effect that the Rodriguezes' killings were

⁴ As noted above, those initial instructions had been given to the jury, in large part, even after *both* the State and Mr.Delgado had objected to charging the jury prior to closing arguments. See R.XIX-2153-55.

"horrible, premeditated murders." R.XIX-2243. The State emphasized that "this is a concession at this point in the trial when everything is over" and criticized the defense for its apparent about-face on that point, arguing: "It is all well and good for him to stand up now after we have been in trial for two and a half weeks and tell you that, yeah these are horrible, premeditated murders, but the problem is, two and a half weeks ago, I didn't hear that concession." *Id*.

Defendant objected to those comments and moved for a mistrial, arguing as grounds first that the prosecutor improperly suggested that the defense was up to something; second, "that it shifts the burden" onto the defense; "and three, it is a comment on the Defendant's right to remain silent." *Id.* The judge cautioned the prosecutor, saying: "Well, you didn't finish it, but you're in treacherous waters." *Id.*

Instead of indicating that she understood the court's concern and would abide by his warning to stay away from such argument, the Assistant State Attorney at sidebar hotly defended her choice of words, unprofessionally characterizing defense counsel's closing argument as "ludicrous" and a "load of crap." R.XIX-2245-46. Judge Green cautioned counsel for the State about such attacks on defense counsel, saying "I don't want to hear talk like that." R.XIX-2246. His Honor instructed the prosecutor "don't interrupt me," and advised her:

"But you are going to have to calm down . . . [and] stay away from putting any argument—advancing any argument about the Defense having any burden." However, he denied Defendant's motion for mistrial and overruled the objection to the argument, other than to caution the State not "to pursue anything that would suggest a burden on anybody but the State." *Id*.

Once her rebuttal argument resumed, the prosecutor continued her criticism of the Defendant and defense counsel, and compared the defense strategy to other, unrelated cases, remarking: "Counsel says that I went through a pile of evidence and that does not prove that Defendant did it. I would submit to you that *the Defense is never satisfied* with anything in *any* criminal case." R.XIX-2248(emphasis added). Defendant objected to that argument, which was sustained, and reserved a motion for mistrial. *Id*.

The State then characterized as "ridiculous" defense counsel's argument that the evidence did not support the State's theory of a motive for Mr. Delgado to kill the victims (Mr. Delgado's alleged financial interest in the dry cleaning business). R.XIX-2253. Defendant objected to the State's argument that Mr. Delgado had an interest in the business and that "[t]he man bought the business for them to run." *Id.* Although expressing his lack of recollection that there was such evidence, the

trial court overruled Defendant's objection that the State's argument was outside the evidence. *Id*.

Next the State insinuated that the Defendant should have produced evidence that the dry cleaning business was financially successful in order to refute the State's theory concerning Mr. Delgado's motive. In replying to defense counsel's argument that the State had failed to introduce financial records showing that the business was unsuccessful, the prosecutor argued: "No, we sure didn't show the records of how that business was doing because whose records were they? Well, they were—if there were records, they were records of the common-law life of the Defendant, Barbara Llamelas's records. So did we—[?]" R.XIX-2255.

Defense counsel objected to that argument and moved for a mistrial, asserting that the prosecutor "is making an inference that our client controls the records and therefore they couldn't do anything about it and that is an improper inference." *Id*. The State agreed with defense counsel's characterization of what the State was suggesting to the jury, stating: "That's what the inference was." *Id*.

Defense counsel argued that it was improper for the prosecution to argue that the jury could draw an inference from Mr. Delgado's failure to produce the subject evidence because that evidence was equally available to both sides.

R.XIX-2255-56. Defense counsel requested that the trial court give a curative

instruction to the effect that no such averse inference should be drawn. *Id*. The trial court denied the motion for mistrial and declined to give the requested instruction. R.XIX-2256.

The Assistant State Attorney next argued that defense counsel's challenges to the sufficiency of the blood testing "happens to be clearly the most absurd conclusion." R.XIX-2263-64. Defense counsel objected to the "improper comment," and stated: "I would like to reserve a motion." The trial court responded: "I agree. Tone it down." *Id*.

After the prosecution completed rebuttal argument, defense counsel argued the motions for mistrial he had reserved when the State "argued the defense is never satisfied" and when she referred to defense counsel's "absurd' argument." R.XIX- 2271. Those motions were denied. R.XIX-2272.

The parties and the trial court next revisited the issue whether the instructions which previously had been read to the jury before closing argument should be re-read in toto. R.XIX-2273. Defendant argued that it was not "appropriate for the court to read that a second time" and stated that "it places undue emphasis on that" to have the definition of first degree murder and related instructions repeatedly read to the jury. R.XIX-2273. The trial court ruled that he would read the instructions in their entirety over defense counsel's objection.

R.XIX-2274. The trial court re-instructed the jury, modifying the previous instructions to reflect the withdrawal of Defendant's request for an instruction concerning justifiable homicide. R.XIX-2277. At the conclusion of the charge to the jury, defense counsel renewed all previous objections made about the jury instructions, including the objection to "reading them murder instruction twice and then re-reading [it] again twice." R.XIX-2289.

F. Penalty Phase Proceedings:

The penalty phase was conducted on July 8, 2004. R.XX-2347. Defense counsel advised the court that Mr. Delgado had instructed his attorneys to refrain from making any opening statement, cross examining the prosecution's witnesses, presenting mitigation evidence, or arguing for mercy in closing. R.XX-2350. Mr. Delgado confirmed on the record that he had so directed his attorneys not to do anything on his behalf at the sentencing phase. R.XX-2351. The trial court found that Mr. Delgado had made a knowing voluntary and intelligent waiver of his right to present matters in mitigation. R.XX-2353.

⁵ The trial court had read each murder instruction separately for the count pertaining to each victim, for a total of four readings of those instructions.

Defense counsel proffered the non-statutory mitigation evidence which would have been introduced if Mr. Delgado had permitted it. As noted by the State in its sentencing memorandum, "[t]he defense first stated that it would rely upon the non-statutory mitigation enumerated by the prior trial judge and reflected in the Florida Supreme Court's direct appeal opinion [in *Delgado* I]." R.II-331. Defense counsel then continued the proffer as follows:

What the court needs to know, we would have presented to the jury that when Jesus' mother was pregnant with him, it was a very difficult pregnancy. He turned out to be a breach baby. There was oxygen deprivation. Because of that, he turned out to be a blue baby.

He was hospitalized for 25 days and contracted viral meningitis which caused encephalitis, enlargement of the brain, and as a result of that the doctors in Cuba treated him with Thorazine which is used as a medication for people who have mental problems.

These things, we believe, retarded his cognitive development and could have developed and could have led to the learning disabilities which we would have shown, which was later discovered by Dr. Herrera.

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