IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-2274

JESUS DELGADO,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

being a comment on silence and Defendant must not have a burden. See Rodriguez v. State, 753 So. 2d 29, 37-39 (Fla. 2000). The United States Supreme Court has held that it is constitutional to require that defendants establish mitigation. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 649-51 (1990), overruled on other grounds by, Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). Applying these principals here, the explanation was not erroneous.

Immediately before the complained of explanation, the trial court had explained the presumption of innocence and burden of proof. (T. 802-04, 1034-36, 1232-33) As part of this, the trial court had just told the jury that "Defendant in not required to present any evidence or prove anything." (T. 802, 1035, 1232) Moreover, the comment in question did not state that Defendant would be presenting any mitigation. It only stated that mitigation would be presented. Further, the constitutional scope of mitigation must include any aspect of defendant's character and the record and any of the circumstances of the offense. Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 110 (1982). Because of this broad scope, a defendant's behavior during trial and the length of an alternative sentence, well as any number of other factors, are considered as mitigating. See Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154 (1994); Beasley v. State, 774 So. 2d 649, 672 (Fla. 2000). As such,

simply by being present, behaving himself and having an alternative sentence, mitigation was presented. This Court has placed the burden on the sentencer to consider mitigation found in the record even where mitigation has been waived. *See Farr v. State*, 621 So. 2d 1368, 1369 (Fla. 1993). In this matter, the record reflects that the jury did so, as it asked questions related to its consideration of the alternative sentence as mitigation. (T. 2436)

Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that the jury understood the voir dire explanation of how a penalty phase was conducted as improperly shifting the burden to Defendant. Moreover, it cannot be said that the comment was fairly susceptible to being considered as a comment on Defendant's silence when he had no burden. As such, the comment was not improper. The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

Even if the issue had been preserved, Defendant had not invited any error and the comments had been erroneous, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. Any error in the explanation would be harmless. As previously mentioned, the explanation did not suggest who would be presenting mitigation. Moreover, the explanation was brief and was made during voir dire. Voir Dire occurred at the beginning of May. The matter did not proceed to the penalty phase until July 8, 2004. At

that time, the trial court did not repeat the language that Defendant now finds offensive. Moreover, the State presented overwhelming evidence of the aggravating circumstances found in this matter. The record amply reflects that Defendant brutally murdered the Rodriguezes in their own home as a result of a cold and calculated plan to exact revenge for his perception that they cheated his girlfriend's family in a business deal. Moreover, Defendant had previously been convicted of aggravated Despite Defendant's waiver of mitigation, the record assault. reflects that the jury did attempt to consider mitigation that had been presented. During deliberations, the jury inquired regarding the length of time Defendant would be required to 2436) serve if sentenced to life. (Т. Under these circumstances, it cannot be court's said that the trial explanation of a penalty phase during voir direct affected the jury's recommendation. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. Thus, the decision of the trial court should be 1986). affirmed.

VI. THE RING CLAIM WAS PROPERLY REJECTED.

Defendant next asserts his death sentences should be reversed because the jury did not unanimously recommend death, allegedly in violation of *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). Defendant also appears to complain about the lack of special verdict forms at the penalty phase. Further, Defendant asks this Court to recede from its precedent affirming death sentences based on the prior violent felony aggravator. However, Defendant is entitled to no relief.

While Defendant asserts that Ring requires that the jury unanimously recommend death, this Court has repeatedly rejected this argument. Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190, 1202 (Fla. 2005); Parker v. State, 904 So. 2d 370, 383 (Fla. 2005); Ferrell v. State, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S451, S456 (Fla. Jun. 16, 2005). Τo the extent that Defendant is suggesting that Ring requires the use of special verdict forms for the jury to specify the aggravating circumstances they found, this Court has also repeatedly rejected this claim. Hernandez-Alberto v. State, 889 So. 2d 721, 733 (Fla. 2004); Gamble v. State, 877 So. 2d 706, 719 (Fla. 2004); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003). In fact, this Court has recently held that it is impermissible for a trial court to submit a special verdict form in the penalty phase. State v. Steele, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S677,

S678-80 (Fla. Oct. 12, 2005). Since this Court has rejected the premises on which Defendant makes his argument, the argument is without merit and should be rejected. Defendant's sentences should be affirmed.

Further, one of the aggravators found in this case was the prior violent felony aggravator, which was based both on Defendant's prior conviction for aggravated assault and the contemporaneous conviction for the murder of the other victim. (R. 345-55) This Court had repeatedly rejected Ring claims, where the sentence was supported by the prior violent felony aggravators. Suggs v. State, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S812, S819 (Fla. Nov. 17, 2005); Holland v. State, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S792, S794 (Fla. Nov. 10, 2005); Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 963 (Fla. 2003). Defendant asks this Court to recede from this precedent. In doing so, Defendant appears to argue that Ring requires that the jury find all of the aggravators used to support a death sentence. However, this Court has repeatedly rejected this argument as well. Winkles v. State, 894 So. 2d 842, 846 (Fla. 2005); Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 48-49 (Fla. 2003). As such, Defendant is entitled to no relief upon his Ring claim. His sentences should be affirmed.

VII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN SUSTAINING AN OBJECTION TO COMMENTS IN DEFENDANT'S CLOSING THAT WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND WERE CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in sustaining an objection to his comment on the lack of DNA evidence in closing. However, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sustaining the objection to comments about the reasons why DNA testing was not conducted, as the comments were not supported by the evidence and were contrary to the evidence that was presented.

A trial court has broad discretion in the control of comments in closing, and that discretion will not be disturbed on appeal unless it has been abused. *Breedlove v. State*, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). In exercising its discretion, a trial court should permit counsel wide latitude and allow fair inferences from the evidence. *Id.* However, neither party is allowed to comment on matters that are not supported by the evidence or that are contrary to the evidence actually presented. *See Ruiz v. State*, 743 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1999).

Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow Defendant to make comments that were contrary to the evidence presented and were not supported by the evidence, while allowing Defendant to comment on the fact that

the State had not presented DNA evidence. While Defendant appears to suggest that his comments were based on the evidence presented or were fair inferences from this evidence, this is untrue.

During his closing, Defendant commented:

The blood and the other prints. The State needs to prove to you that there is only one conclusive explanation of this blood evidence beyond a reasonable doubt and they didn't. They even put on Technician Alpizar. By the way, there is no controversy as far as we're concerned to what he said. He said what he said. He is an expert. The controversy is there because he can't say that is Mr. Rodriguez's blood or Violetta's blood or [Defendant's] blood. All he can say is consistent with. All they can is say consistent with and they are the ones that have a controversy, not us.

Blood groupings prove nothing. In 1990 that was all they could do. You heard Alpizar say, well I guess we could but it was real expensive. That's fine. DNA in 2004, all they got to do is submit it to DNA. You would know positively? [The State:] Objection. Objection. THE COURT: Sustained. Sustained. Not in evidence. The Jury will disregard it. [Defense Counsel:] They put on evidence of Detective He testified that this stuff was not tested Alpizar. for DNA. Their arrogance about this case is we don't need to do that, just like their prosecution of this They have a theory and nothing is getting in case. the way of our theory. They can only speculate on it.

(T. 2232-33)(Emphasis added) While Defendant suggested that Tech. Alpizar had stated that DNA testing was not conducted because it was too expensive at the time of the crime, this is not true. Tech. Alpizar testified that DNA testing was not conducted because it had not been validated for use in Dade County at the time. (T. 2029-30) While Defendant's question mentioned the expense of DNA testing, Tech. Alpizar never mentioned the expense of DNA testing in his testimony. (T. 2029-30) As such, Defendant's comment that Tech. Alpizar had stated that DNA testing could have been done at the time of the crime but was not due to the expense not only commented on matters that were not in evidence but was contrary to the evidence actual presented. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion sustained the objection. *See Garcia v. State*, 622 So. 2d 1325, 1331-32 (Fla. 1993).

Moreover, Defendant also suggested that DNA testing could have been done on the evidence before the trial. However, no evidence was presented that any evidence could have been DNA tested at that time. To the extent that Defendant is suggesting that he was presenting a fair inference from the evidence, this is not true. During the testimony of Tech. Fletcher, Defendant elicited that several of the containers that had held blood samples were now empty. (T. 1596-99) Further, during his testimony, Tech. Alpizar testified that it was not possible to conduct even all of the blood grouping testing because testing consumed part of the sample and not all of the samples were even large enough for all of the blood grouping tests. (T. 1949-51) Moreover, Tech. Alpizar stated that some of the blood grouping

testing was not able to obtain useful results because of deterioration of the samples. (T. 1949-51) As such, the record affirmatively reflected that evidence was not available to be DNA tested. Since the record so reflected, Defendant's comment that the State could have tested the evidence was not a fair inference from the evidence. Given the lack of any affirmative evidence and the lack of a fair inference, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow the comment. *Ruiz*. Defendant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Even if Defendant had shown that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow this comment, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief because any error in sustaining the objection was harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Defendant was permitted to argue that the jury should have a reasonable doubt because the State did not present DNA evidence. In fact, he continued this argument without objection after the objection was sustained. Moreover, Defendant conceded that the State had shown that the killing of the Rodriguezes was premeditated and only argued that the State had failed to show that he committed the murders.⁸ However, the

⁸ Further, the State presented overwhelming evidence that the crimes were premeditated. Mr. Rodriguez was shot five times and stabbed five times. Ms. Rodriguez had been beaten over the head with the gun repeatedly and stabbed 12 times. The gun used to shot Mr. Rodriguez and beat Ms. Rodriguez had been equipped with

State presented overwhelming evidence that Defendant had committed the murders. Defendant's finger and palm prints were found in blood on a telephone at the murder scene. The last number called from that phone was the number of the home where Defendant's girlfriend and her family lived. The State presented evidence that Defendant was upset with the Rodriguezes over the condition of the dry cleaning business that the Rodriguezes had sold to his girlfriend's family. While Defendant suggested he may have left his prints at the home at a different time, he offered no explanation of when he would have been in the Rodriguezes' home for a legitimate purpose, as he denied having any connection to the Rodriguezes. Under these circumstances, any error in the trial court's refusal to allow Defendant to suggest that the State had not conducted DNA testing because of its expense at the time of the crime did not influence the jury's verdicts. As such, it was harmless. State *DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Defendant's v.

a homemade silencer and its serial number had been drill out of it. Evidence was presented that the gun was not consistent with any ammunition the Rodriguezes had and that the Rodriguezes' gun was in a closed case in a closed cart in a bedroom on the other side of the house from where the bodies were found and evidence of a struggle existed. Further, the Rodriguezes' bodies were found in the garage and that the door to the garage had been broken off its hinges so that Defendant could get to the Rodriguezes and kill them. Moreover, Ms. Rodriguez's body was found wedge in the far corner of the garage between the wall and her car.

convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

VIII. THE HARMLESS ERROR ARGUMENT SHOULD BE REJECTED.

Defendant finally engages in an extended discussion of the harmless error standard that this Court should employ. Defendant then appears to contend that this Court should not find any errors in this matter harmless. However, Defendant is entitled to no relief.

In State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), this Court adopted the harmless error standard to be applied. Under this standard, an error is considered harmless if the beneficiary of the error can show beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the jury's verdict. *Id.* at 1135. As this Court stated:

Application of the test requires an examination of the entire record by the appellate court including a close examination of the permissible evidence on which the jury could have legitimately relied, and in addition an even close examination of the impermissible evidence which might have possibly influenced the jury verdict.

Id. This Court has steadfastly adhered to this standard. Knowles v. State, 848 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2003); State v. Lee, 531 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1988). As argued in the other issues, application of this standard leads to the conclusion that any alleged error did not affect the jury's verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. As such, any error was not harmful. The lower court should be affirmed.

To the extent that Defendant is suggesting that application of this test does not consider the strength of the State's case, this is not true. As the above quoted language suggests, the strength of the evidence against the defendant is properly considered in making the determination of whether an error was harmful. The United States Supreme Court has made clear that it is easier to affect a judgment that is only weakly supported than one that is overwhelmingly supported. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 695-96 (1984). As such, while the mere fact that the evidence overwhelming showed that a defendant was guilty is not sufficient to show that an error was harmless, it is not irrelevant to the inquiry either.

To the extent that Defendant is seeking a cumulative error review, he is again entitled to no relief. This Court has repeatedly held that where the individual errors are procedurally barred or without merit, the cumulative error claim fails as well. *Downs v. State*, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999). As seen above, Defendant's individual claims are all procedurally barred, because they are unpreserved, or lack merit. As such, the cumulative error claim fails. The lower court should be affirmed.

IX. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT DEFENDANT.

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